### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 95,881

KAREN D'AMARIO, individually, and on behalf of CLIFFORD HARRIS, a minor, and CLIFFORD HARRIS, individually,

Petitioners,	
VS.	
FORD MOTOR COMPANY,	
Respondent.	

On Discretionary Review from a Decision of the District Court of Appeal, Second District

### PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FLORIN ROEBIG & WALKER, P.A. First Merit Bank Bldg., 3rd Floor 28059 U.S. Highway 19 North Clearwater, Florida 34621

WAGNER, VAUGHAN & McLAUGHLIN, P.A. 601 Bayshore Blvd., Suite 910
Tampa, Florida 33606
-andPODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG,
EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. 25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800
Miami, Florida 33130

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I.

The petitioners, Karen D'Amario, individually, and on behalf of Clifford Harris, her son, and Clifford Harris, individually, were plaintiffs below in a "crashworthiness" action against Ford Motor Company. Their First Amended Complaint (R. 93-103) alleged that Clifford was a passenger in a 1988 Ford Escort driven by an underage driver, Stanley Livernois; that Stanley lost control of the car, causing it to collide with a tree; and that, after the impact, a minimal fire occurred that would have caused no additional injury to Clifford if the vehicle had functioned as intended by Ford. It alleged further that, because the vehicle malfunctioned and failed to shut off the fuel pump as Ford intended, the vehicle was ultimately engulfed in an enormous fire which caused Clifford grievous injuries (including burns over nearly 80% of his body and the loss of three of his four limbs). The plaintiffs did not sue Stanley; they sued only Ford. And damages were sought *only* for the separate injuries caused by the subsequent fire created by the malfunction of the vehicle; the complaint affirmatively

The reason that both Clifford and his mother are petitioners here is that Clifford attained the age of majority between the date of the accident and the time of trial. For general background on "crashworthiness" actions, *see Ford Motor Co. v. Evancho*, 327 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1976); *Ford Motor Co. v. Hill*, 404 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1981).

asserted that "no claim is made in this action" for the "minor injuries" suffered in the initial impact with the tree.

In effect, the complaint alleged that Clifford suffered two separate, successive injuries -minor injuries initially caused by Stanley and egregious burns subsequently caused by
Ford -- and recovery was sought only for the latter. The case was presented to the
trial court in this fashion at the outset (T. 3-64), and that is the way it was tried. The
plaintiffs presented abundant evidence supporting their theory of liability -- that the
post-impact fire was fuel-fed, and that the fire arose as a result of both a design defect
and a defective electrical relay in the car -- and Ford's motions for directed verdict
were denied for that reason (T. 2713-36, 2747-60, 3613-22).<sup>2</sup> The only real dispute
concerning Ford's liability at trial was whether the post-impact fire was fed by oil, as
Ford contended, or by gasoline; Ford's experts conceded, in essence, that if the fire
were gasoline-fed, the vehicle was defective (*see*, *e. g.*, T. 2970, 3279-93, 3469).

It was the plaintiffs' position throughout the proceeding that, because the damages suffered in the accident were readily divisible into two separately-caused injuries, there could be no "apportionment" of fault between Stanley and Ford for the injuries caused exclusively by the fire, and evidence of Stanley's conduct was therefore irrelevant and inadmissible. It was Ford's position that, despite the fact that the damages were readily divisible and the injury separately caused, it was entitled to "apportion" its liability for the injuries caused by the fire with Stanley's initial fault, and that evidence

The sufficiency of the plaintiffs' evidence was not placed in issue in the district court of appeal, so there is no need for us to detail that evidence here. If the Court is interested, it will find a fair summary of the abundant evidence supporting the plaintiffs' theory of the case in the plaintiffs' trial brief (R. 442-598).

of Stanley's conduct was therefore relevant and admissible. During the trial, the trial court agreed with Ford and admitted evidence that Stanley was legally intoxicated at the time of the crash (T. 1461-62).

The jury returned a verdict for Ford (R. 1684). Following the verdict, the plaintiff moved for a new trial and for leave to interview two of the jurors, jurors Leslie and Warwick (R. 1746). Ford opposed both motions (R. 1941). In an order that was both thorough and thoughtful and which reflected an exceptionally conscientious analysis of the relevant portions of the record and the applicable law, the trial court granted the motion for new trial, on two grounds (R. 2086). It concluded that it had erred in admitting evidence of Stanley's intoxication, and it concluded that jurors Leslie and Warwick had engaged in misconduct by providing false answers to relevant and material questions on their juror questionnaires and in their voir dire. And, as Ford had requested, the motion for leave to interview the two jurors was denied (R. 2086). The procedural and factual backgrounds of these several rulings are fairly extensive, so we will reserve discussion of their particulars for appropriate places in our argument. And for the convenience of the Court, a copy of the new trial order is included in the appendix to this brief.

Not content simply to appeal the new trial order -- and prohibited from filing a Rule 1.530 motion for rehearing of the new trial order by this Court's decision in *Frazier v*. *Seaboard System Railroad, Inc.*, 508 So.2d 345 (Fla. 1987) -- Ford challenged the new trial order with a Rule 1.540(b) motion (R. 2070). The motion was bottomed upon an unsworn, unauthenticated, hearsay letter purportedly sent to the trial court by juror Leslie which took issue with some of the facts recited in a newspaper account of the new trial order (R. 2196). And, although Ford had successfully opposed the

plaintiffs' motion to interview the jurors and the time for filing a Rule 1.431 motion had long since passed, the motion requested, in the alternative, that juror Leslie be interviewed. The plaintiffs opposed this motion, and moved to strike the letter as hearsay (R. 2082). The trial court denied both motions (R. 2096).

Ford thereafter separately appealed both the new trial order and the order denying its Rule

1.540(b) motion to the District Court of Appeal, Second District, and the two appeals were consolidated (R. 2101, 2113). In its brief, Ford sought reversal only of the order granting the plaintiffs' motion for new trial; it did *not* seek reversal of the order denying its Rule 1.540(b) motion. Instead, it treated the two orders as if they were one, and utilized the (purported) factual matters submitted in the second motion to argue that the first order was wrong. We responded that this tactic was impermissible -- that the propriety of the new trial order had to be judged on the record before the trial court at the time the new trial order was entered, not on the unsworn, unauthenticated hearsay placed into the record *after* the ruling was made (appellees' 2d DCA brief, pp. 3-4). And we devoted a separate issue on appeal to a demonstration that the Rule 1.540(b) motion was procedurally improper and that, for several additional reasons, it was properly denied by the trial court (*id.*, pp. 41-47).<sup>3/</sup>

The District Court disagreed with both of the grounds upon which the trial court had bottomed its new trial order. *Ford Motor Co. v. D'Amario*, 732 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999). It held that Ford was entitled to apportion its liability with the drunk

-13-

brief we filed in the district court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>/ Space does not permit a reprise of that demonstration here, and because there is no mention of the motion in the district court's decision, a reprise should be unnecessary. If the propriety of the motion should become an issue here, the Court is referred to the

driver, and that the jurors' answers to the jury questionnaires and their voir dire did not justify the trial court's determination that a new trial was warranted for juror misconduct. The district court neither addressed nor reversed the order denying Ford's Rule 1.540(b) motion. Instead, it utilized a purported "fact" contained in the unauthenticated, unsworn, hearsay letter -- filed *after* the new trial order was entered -- to declare that the trial court's new trial order was wrong. The word "discretion" appears nowhere in the district court's opinion, and from all that appears on its face, the district court made its own *de novo* determination of whether the facts warranted a new trial. This Court thereafter granted discretionary review. A copy of the district court's decision is included in the appendix to this brief for the convenience of the Court.

### II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

Ford presented two issues on appeal below, and prevailed on both of them. The same two issues are presented for review here:

A. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING THE PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL ON THE GROUND OF JUROR MISCONDUCT DURING VOIR DIRE.

B. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED OR ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING THE PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL ON THE GROUND THAT IT SHOULD HAVE EXCLUDED EVIDENCE OF STANLEY LIVERNOIS' BLOOD ALCOHOL CONTENT.

### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because of the size of the record and the need to restate much of the factual and procedural background, space is at a premium. There is also a lot of ground to cover, and

repetition would appear to be undesirable. Respectfully requesting the Court's indulgence, we turn directly to the merits.

### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN GRANT-ING THE PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL ON THE GROUND OF JUROR MISCONDUCT DURING VOIR DIRE.

### 1. The standard of review.

n its first challenge to the new trial order below, Ford quarreled with the trial court's determination to grant the plaintiffs a new trial because of the misconduct of two jurors during voir dire. Although it devoted nearly 20 pages of highly contentious argument to the challenge, it failed to make even passing mention of the appropriate standard of review. The district court's decision also makes no mention of the standard of review. The standard of review was, of course, a rigorous one (which probably explains why Ford and the district court avoided its mention):

. . . The judicial determination on a motion for a new trial is a discretionary act of the trial court:

When a motion for new trial is made it is directed to the sound, broad discretion of the trial judge, who because of his contact with the trial and his observation of the behavior of those upon whose testimony the finding of fact must be based is better positioned than any other one person fully to comprehend the processes by which the ultimate decision of the triers of fact, the jurors, is reached.

Cloud v. Fallis, 110 So.2d 669, 673 (Fla. 1959) (citations omitted). We reiterated the rule recently in *State v. Spaziano*, 692 So.2d 174 (Fla. 1977), wherein we stated:

A motion for a new trial is addressed to the sound judicial discretion of the trial court, and the presumption is that [it] exercised that discretion properly. And the general rule

is that unless it clearly appears that the trial court abused its discretion, the action of the trial court will not be disturbed by the appellate court.

*Id.* at 177.... The appellate court should apply the reasonableness test to determine whether the trial judge abused his discretion, to wit, "discretion is abused only where no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court." *Huff v. State*, 569 So.2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990).

Allstate Ins. Co. v. Manasse, 707 So.2d 1110, 1111 (Fla. 1998). Accord E.R. Squibb & Sons, Inc. v. Farnes, 697 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1997); Smith v. Brown, 525 So.2d 868 (Fla. 1988); Baptist Memorial Hospital, Inc. v. Bell, 384 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1980). And if there were ever any question about that, the question was forcefully put to rest in this Court's recent decision in Brown v. Estate of Stuckey, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S397 (Fla. Aug. 26, 1999).

These settled propositions also plainly apply in the precise context presented by the new trial order in issue here. *Zequeira v. De La Rosa*, 627 So.2d 531, 533 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) ("I am unable to agree with the majority's conclusion that the trial court abused its broad discretion in granting the motion for new trial"; J. Baskin, dissenting), *quashed*, 659 So.2d 239, 242 (Fla. 1995) ("we approve and adopt [Judge Baskin's] opinion as our own"); *Castenholz v. Bergmann*, 696 So.2d 954, 955 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) ("Our review of the record does not disclose the 'clear showing of an abuse of discretion,' . . . necessary to reverse the trial court's decision to grant a new trial [for juror misconduct]"); *Owen v. Bay Memorial Medical Center*, 443 So.2d 128, 130 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) ("We affirm the trial court's granting of a new trial [for juror misconduct] by recognizing the trial judge's discretion to order a new trial and the well documented position that the grant of a new trial should not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion"), *review denied*, 450 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1984).

In short, in order to prevail on this issue on appeal in the district court, Ford had to convince that court that no reasonable person would have ruled as the trial court did -- and for the reasons which follow, we respectfully submit that it came nowhere close to shouldering that heavy burden. We also respectfully submit that the district court's failure even to acknowledge that standard of review requires quashal of its decision, without more, as this Court has routinely done in the past. See, e. g., Baptist Memorial Hospital, Inc. v. Bell, supra; Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis, 401 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 1981).

## 2. The factual and procedural background.

The factual and procedural background of this issue is straightforward. Prior to jury selection, the prospective jurors filled out a standard "Juror Voir Dire Questionnaire." In her answers to the questionnaire, juror Warwick answered "no" to the following questions: (1) "Have you or any member of your immediate family been a party to any lawsuit?"; (2) "Have you or any member of your family ever made any claim for personal injuries?" (R. 1794). In her answers to the questionnaire, juror Leslie answered "no" to the following questions: (1) "Have you or any member of your immediate family been a party to any lawsuit?"; (2) "Has a claim for personal injuries ever been made against you or any member of your family?" (R. 1759).

In her answers to the questionnaire, juror Leslie also revealed that she was the vice president and office manager, and that her husband was the general manager, of McGill Plumbing (R. 1759). And during the course of her voir dire questioning, she identified McGill Plumbing as a "family business":

MR. CABANISS [Ford's counsel]: All right. Just a few questions about your background. I know, Ms. Leslie, it looks like you and your husband are in a family business, is that accurate? Plumbing business?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR LESLIE: Yes. You could say that, yes.

MR. CABANISS: Okay. And how many folks, just generally, are in that business? You're vice president and office manager of McGill Plumbing and your husband is general manager?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR LESLIE: Yes.

(T. 379).

about the make of the lawsuit, all of the prospective jurors were questioned extensively about the make of the vehicles they owned and their past experience with Ford vehicles -- and the overriding significance of this information to the jury selection process simply could not have been lost on them (e. g., T. 218-25, 432-35, 496-97, 531-33, 553-55). Plaintiffs' counsel repeatedly stressed the importance of finding out whether any of the jurors were "Ford addicts" or "dedicated Ford drivers" (T. 218-29). And in response to this expansive request by counsel, the jurors who were loyal Ford customers responded with not only their personal history with Fords, but that of their families as well. For example, one prospective juror responded, "My family just was a Ford family. There is six of us and we all just -- it was what my dad likes, so we all kind of went that route" (T. 219). And another prospective juror responded, "I am afraid I am a Ford family. My husband worked for Ford. We raised seven children and they are all driving Fords and never had problems" (T. 228).

Juror Leslie was asked twice about the vehicles she owned; she disclosed the present ownership of only one Ford; denied that she was the kind of person who always buys Fords; and denied that she was "involved in Fords or anything like that":

[MR. WAGNER; plaintiffs' counsel]: So the issue that you are going to be asked to consider is was this a gasoline fire or oil fire. There will be many other things, but those are the main things, and with that I need to ask you a few things. I would like to find out how many of you own an Escort car. Ford Escort. How many of you own a Ford. I would like for you to tell me and start here and go this way, about your Ford. And your experiences with your Ford or Ford's general treatment. Tell me about your Ford. Tell me what goes on.

. . . .

MS. LESLIE: A '93 Ford Bronco.

MR. WAGNER: How long have you had it?

MS. LESLIE: Since '93. I owned a Ford Bronco 2 before that.

MR. WAGNER: Are you the kind of person that has always looked to buy Fords?

MS. LESLIE: I got the Bronco because of the roominess. I like the vehicle.

MR. WAGNER: If you have problems with it, what -- who takes care of it?

MS. LESLIE: Walker Ford.

MR. WAGNER: Do you, yourself, get involved in Fords or anything like that?

MS. LELLIE [sic]: No.

. . . .

MR. WAGNER: I got through most of the Fords. Anyone else have a Ford?

[no response by Ms. Leslie].

. . . .

MR. CABANISS [Ford's counsel]: Ms. Leslie, what kind of car do you own and do you know whether it has an inertia switch?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR LESLIE: Well, I own a Ford but my husband also owns a Jeep. I think that's a Chrysler product, I think.

(T. 218, 222-23, 228, 433-34).

Following trial, an investigator engaged by plaintiffs' counsel conducted a simple public records search (R. 1756, 1799). The search revealed that juror Warwick's husband had been a plaintiff and a counter-defendant in a 1985 lawsuit involving a dispute over a real estate purchase (R. 1796). The search also revealed that juror Warwick's husband had filed three successful workers' compensation claims for personal injuries suffered on the job between 1986 and 1991 (R. 1802-04). With respect to juror Leslie, the search revealed that her husband was a defendant in a 1986 personal injury lawsuit (R. 1763).<sup>4</sup> It also revealed that McGill Plumbing, the "family business" of which she was an officer and which was managed by herself and her husband, owned a large fleet of 25 Ford vehicles (R. 1689-1745).

Competent proof of these facts in the form of sworn affidavits and copies of the public record documents were filed, and the plaintiffs moved the trial court for a new trial on

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Actually, the search revealed that Mr. Leslie had been a defendant in *two* companion 1986 personal injury lawsuits (R. 1761, 1763). The record of one of those suits is arguably ambiguous, however. The only defendant identified in the style of the case is McGill Plumbing; Mr. Leslie is identified as a defendant (by the symbol "D") only in the "copies furnished to" list (R. 1761). Although we are convinced that juror Leslie failed to disclose *two* personal injury lawsuits, a failure to disclose one is sufficient by itself to support the new trial order, so we will not insist upon the existence of the second.

the ground of juror misconduct, and for leave to interview jurors Warwick and Leslie (R. 1689, 1746). Of course, if Ford were unhappy with this state of the record and wished to delve deeper, or to obtain clarification or further explanation, all it had to do was agree to the request for juror interviews. It did not. Instead, it accepted the record *as is* by responding with a memorandum of law in which it *opposed both* the motion for new trial *and* the request for juror interviews (R. 1941). *This* was the state of the record before the trial court at the time it ruled on the motions, and it was on *these* facts that the trial court granted the motion for new trial -- and, as Ford had asked it to do, denied the motion for juror interviews (R. 2086).

### 3. The propriety of the new trial order.

In our judgment, in granting the plaintiffs' motion for new trial, the trial court did no more than (1) apply thoroughly settled principles of law to (2) a straightforward set of facts to (3) produce a result which was perfectly consistent with -- indeed, which was probably *required* by -- the decisional law on the subject. For starters, it has been settled for nearly 50 years that counsel is entitled to full and truthful answers from prospective jurors on voir dire examination, and that a false answer or the concealment of a material fact relevant to the controversy constitutes juror misconduct which will require a new trial:

In *Loftin v. Wilson*, 67 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1953), we explained the major reasons for interviewing jurors on voir dire:

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