#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 95,881

KAREN D'AMARIO, individually, and on behalf of CLIFFORD HARRIS, a minor, and CLIFFORD HARRIS, individually,

Petitioners,

vs.

FORD MOTOR COMPANY,

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

are interdependent and should be viewed as a combined event," <u>Hill</u>, 404 So. 2d at 1052 (quoting with approval <u>Huff</u>, 565 F.2d at 109), the driver's negligence in causing the collision cannot be a remote cause or condition. <u>See also General Motors Corp. v. Lahocki</u>, 410 A.2d 1039, 1051 (Md. 1980) ("But for the alleged negligence of [the driver] the design defect would not have been manifested and there would have been no injury").

For this reason, it has been universally recognized that the negligent driver who causes an accident and an automobile manufacturer who allegedly enhances the accident injuries by its design, are joint tortfeasors as to any enhanced injury. <u>See</u> Restatement (Third) of Torts: Products Liability § 16(d) and Reporters Note cmt. e (citing "a plethora" of authorities); Restatement (Third) of Torts: Apportionment of Liability § 50. As the Eighth Circuit has explained, "the negligent driver of the other car [is] a joint tortfeasor with . . . respect to the enhanced injuries since there [is] no sufficient intervening cause to limit the driver's liability. On the other hand, [the manufacturer] [is] not a joint tortfeasor in respect to any damages occurring prior to the fire; it is only the enhanced injuries for which [the manufacturer] may be held liable." <u>Bass v.</u> <u>General Motors Corp.</u>, 150 F.3d 842, 847 (8th Cir. 1998) (citing <u>Polk v. Ford Motor Co.</u>, 529 F.2d 259 (8th Cir. 1976).

As a Georgia court further explained:

[D]efendants in a "crashworthiness" case are properly sued as joint tortfeasors . . . in "crashworthiness" cases alleged negligence of a defendant manufacturer and a defendant driver **converge** at the time of a single accident. . . .

Brinks, Inc. v. Robinson, 452 S.E.2d 788, 790 (Ga. Ct. App. 1994). See also Mitchell v.
Volkswagenwerk, A.G., 669 F.2d 1199 (8th Cir. 1982) (Michigan); Polston v. Boomershine Pontiac-GMC Truck, 423 S.E.2d 659 (Ga. 1992); General Motors Corp. v. Edwards, 482 So. 2d 1176 (Ala.
1985); McDowell v. Kawasaki Motor Corp. USA, 799 S.W.2d 854 (Mo. Ct. App. 1990); Oakes v.
General Motors Corp., 628 N.E.2d 341 (Ill. App. Ct. 1993), appeal denied, 633 N.E.2d 4 (Ill. 1994).

This authority and reasoning is completely consistent with the Florida law of proximate cause which cuts off the causal chain only when a result is "highly unusual, extraordinary, bizarre, or . . . beyond the scope of any fair assessment of the danger created by the defendant's negligence." <u>Department of Transp.</u>

<u>v. Anglin</u>, 502 So. 2d 896 (1987). There is nothing highly unusual or bizarre, even unforeseeable, about a design defect that would render it an independent intervening cause in an automobile accident. Moreover, serious injuries including fires and burns, are the natural and foreseeable result of negligent driving and fall directly within the "scope of the danger" created by such negligence (as this case compellingly demonstrates). Thus, there is no basis on which to cut off the causal responsibility of the driver, simply because it is alleged that the accident injuries were enhanced in a product defect.

Citing <u>Stuart</u>, Plaintiffs also argue that the manufacturer should not be permitted to escape liability for causing the very injury it was intended to prevent. (Plfs' Br. at 42) But apportionment does not allow anyone to "escape" liability; it apportions fault and damages between **all** those who are liable. The intoxicated driver in this case had at least as great a duty as Ford (and certainly a more proximate one) to prevent **all** of Plaintiff's injuries by not driving negligently. Indeed, it is Plaintiffs' argument that would relieve a patently negligent party of responsibility for the results of his own breach of duty.

<sup>19</sup> Nor surprisingly then, in many contexts, Plaintiffs' illogical argument has not precluded comparative fault from being applied. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Metropolitan Dade County v. Zapata</u>, 601 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) (trial court improperly precluded evidence of decedent's comparative fault in action against life guard for failing to come to decedent's rescue).

Accordingly, as a matter of well-settled, uniform, products liability law, the tortfeasor who causes the accident and the negligent/strictly liable manufacturer are joint tortfeasors with respect to enhanced injuries. This well-reasoned principle requires affirmance of the Second District's decision.

#### 2. <u>Nash</u> does not Require a Contrary Result.

Failing all else, Plaintiffs now point to the Third District's recent decision in <u>Nash v. General Motors Corp.</u>, 734 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), <u>rev. granted</u>, (Fla. Case No.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Virtually any negligent act can be characterized as a failure to prevent an injury that one had a duty to prevent. Thus, this reasoning would effectively write section 768.81 out of Florida law.

96,139) and urge, without any analysis of why it is correct, that <u>Nash</u> requires reversal. The court in <u>Nash</u> was asked to resolve the question of whether alcohol use was admissible in a crashworthiness case. <u>Id.</u> at 440. Skipping over that question, and the court instead held that driving drunk was an intentional tort and therefore, a drunk third party should not be placed on the verdict form pursuant to <u>Merrill Crossings, Ass'n. v.</u> <u>McDonald</u>, 705 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1997). <u>Id.</u> at 440-41. <u>Nash</u> is pending before this Court for review, Case No. 96,0139.

Although these Plaintiffs did not raise this issue until seeking conflict jurisdiction before this Court, Plaintiffs seek to reap the benefits of that errant decision before this Court. <sup>20</sup> Plaintiffs' effort must be rejected for a host of reasons.

# a. Plaintiffs have failed to preserve the "<u>Nash"</u> issue for review.

The law is well settled that parties may not raise issues for the first time on appeal. <u>See</u> <u>Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Fed. Housing Corp.</u>, 737 So. 2d 494, 499 n.1 (Fla. 1999) (issue raised for the first time in this Court was not preserved for appellate review); <u>Dober v. Worrell</u>, 401 So. 2d 1322, 1323-24 (Fla. 1981); <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 305 So. 2d 178, 180 (Fla. 1974). Plaintiffs herein did not raise the <u>Nash</u> issues until a motion for rehearing in the district court, and thus this issue cannot be used to obtain a reversal of the Second District decision.

Plaintiffs try to slip out from under this established law by relying on <u>Dade County School Bd. v.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> That Plaintiffs' never raised this argument below underscores the very absurdity of the <u>Nash</u> decision. Had there been any logical support for the result in <u>Nash</u>, Ford has no doubt that Plaintiffs' able trial and appellate counsel would have raised the issue before now.

<u>Radio Station WQBA</u>, 731 So. 2d 638 (Fla. 1999), for the proposition that they can assert any ground to support the trial court's ruling. Plaintiffs have apparently lost sight of the fact that they are not trying to support the trial court's decision here. Rather, Plaintiffs are trying to overturn the Second District's wellreasoned decision by raising unpreserved arguments. This Court should not permit Plaintiffs to do so.

#### b. <u>Nash</u> is not relevant to this case.

In addition, the Second District's decision is affirmable irrespective of whether this Court approves <u>Nash</u>. As discussed above, because the jury found no liability against Ford, any error with respect to placing non-parties on the verdict form was harmless since the jury never considered the allocation of fault. <u>See Loureiro</u>, 698 So. 2d at 1264. Thus, <u>Nash</u> is not even implicated here.

Finally, it was undisputed that the driver in this case was speeding. Because excessive speeding constitutes negligence, Defendants were warranted in placing the driver's name on the verdict form on that basis alone.

#### c. Nash was wrongly decided.

Plaintiffs do not present any argument on the merits of <u>Nash</u> and that issue will be fully briefed and decided in <u>Nash</u> itself. Nonetheless, Ford will briefly explain why <u>Nash</u> was wrongly decided and should not be followed by this Court here.

First, the Third District went astray in finding that, pursuant to <u>Ingram v. Pettit</u>, 340 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1976), driving while drunk constitutes an intentional tort. To the contrary, although <u>Ingram</u> notes that becoming intoxicated is an intentional **act**, it does not hold that driving drunk constitutes an intentional **tort**. Rather, the court explained that driving drunk constituted a heightened form of **negligence**. <u>Id.</u> at 924.

Moreover, it is clear that the act of driving while intoxicated does not meet the test of intentionality. Under Florida law, an intentional tort is one "design[ed] to result in injury or death" or conduct which is "substantially certain to result in injury or death."<u>General Motors Acceptance Corp. v. David</u>, 632 So. 2d 123, 125 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>. 639 So. 2d 976 (Fla. 1994) The mere knowledge and appreciation of the risk is not enough. <u>See Fisher v. Shenandoah Gen. Constr. Co.</u>, 498 So. 2d 882 (Fla. 1986). Because drunk drivers may intent to drive drunk, this does not mean that they intend to cause injury. As such, it is clear that the court in <u>Nash</u> erred in its conclusion that drunk driving was an intentional tort.

Instead, numerous Florida decisions are in accord that drunk driving is a species of negligence. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>DeMoya v. Lorenzo</u>, 468 So. 2d 358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (evidence of alcohol use admissible to establish comparative negligence); <u>Thunderbird Drive-In Theatre v. Reed</u>, 571 So. 2d 1341, 1345 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), <u>rev. denied</u>, 577 So. 2d 1328 (Fla. 1991) (same), <u>overruled on other grounds</u>, <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, 634 So. 2d 158(Fla. 1994); <u>Mauro v. Deer Park Spring Water</u>, 667 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) (evidence of alcohol use admissible).

#### 21

And, the law is clear that even heightened forms of negligence can be compared by the jury to ordinary negligence. <u>See American Cyanamid Co. v. Roy</u>, 466 So. 2d 1079, 1085 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), <u>quashed inpart on other grounds</u>, 498 So. 2d 859 (Fla. 1986) (comparatively negligent plaintiff should bear a fair share of the loss even when the defendants tortfeasor's conduct has been egregious, egregious having been defined as "willful and wanton"); <u>Tampa Elec. Co. v. Stone & Webster Eng'g Corp.</u>, 367 F. Supp. 27, 38 (M.D. Fla. 1973) (under Florida law, comparative negligence operates even where the defendant's conduct is termed gross negligence). <u>Accord White v. Hansen</u>, 837 P.2d 1229, 1234 (Colo. 1992) (evidence of drunk driving, which constituted willful, wanton negligence can be compared to ordinary negligent conduct, and holding that the jury "must weigh the conduct of the parties, be it slightly, grossly, recklessly or willfully negligent, and make the appropriate percentage allocation of fault"); <u>Vining v. City</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Other jurisdictions agree. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Ballou v. Henri Studios</u>, 656 F.2d 1147, 1155 (5th Cir. Unit A 1981) (intoxication "is unquestionably a legitimate ground for a finding of contributory negligence"); <u>Tyler v. City of Enterprise</u>, 577 So. 2d 876 (Ala. 1991) (drunk driving constituted contributory negligence); <u>Conley v. American Motor corp.</u>, 769 S.W.2d 75 (Ky. Ct. App. 1989) (same); <u>Wallace v. Ford Motor Co.</u>, 723 A.2d 1226 (N.J. App. Div. 1999) (driver's intoxication is evidence of comparative negligence); <u>accord Cook v.</u> <u>Spinnaker's of Rivergate, Inc.</u>, 878 S.W.2d 934 (Tenn. 1994) (driving drunk is gross negligence); and Am. Law Prod. Liab. 3d § 40:19 (citing cases).

of Detroit, 413 N.W.2d 486 (Mich. Ct. App. 1986) (same); <u>Sorenson v. Allred</u>, 112 Cal. App. 3d 717, 169 Cal. Rptr. 441 (1980) (same). <u>See also</u> W. Page Keeton, et al., <u>Prosser & Keeton on the Law of Torts</u>, § 34, at 210 (5th ed. 1984) ("there are such things as major or minor departures from reasonable conduct; but the difficulty of classification, because of the very real difficulty of drawing satisfactory lines of demarcation, together with the unhappy history justifies the rejection of distinctions in most situations"). <u>Accord Ingram</u>, 340 So. 2d at 924 (noting difficulty in drawing lines to distinguish forms of negligence); <u>Carraway v. Revell</u>, 116 So. 2d 16, 19-20 (Fla. 1959) (same).

<u>Nash</u> is also wrong in its reliance on <u>Merrill</u>. In <u>Merrill</u>, the defendant's negligence allegedly gave rise to and allowed the occurrence of an intentional tort. As such, this Court held that it was an action "based on an intentional tort" under section 768.81(3). <u>Id</u>. In contrast, Ford's alleged fault in designing its product did not give rise to or allow the driver's intoxication and drunk driving. Ford had no duty, and there is nothing Ford could have done, to prevent the driver's actions. Thus, the limited intentional tort exception to section 768.81(3) is inapplicable to Plaintiffs' claim against Ford, even if drunk driving were considered an intentional tort.

Finally, strong public policy reasons militate against the <u>Nash</u> result. It is undeniably the policy of this state is to apportion liability in accordance with fault. The <u>Nash</u> decision undercuts that policy. Worse, it is inappropriate to selectively apply the policy only when a negligent tortfeasor is fortunate enough to share liability with the "right" other tortfeasor. Indeed, it defies common sense to penalize the manufacturer more when the conduct of the other tortfeasor is more egregious.

Moreover, because there is nothing the manufacturer could do to prevent the drunk driving, there is no basis to find section 768.81 effective to benefit a negligent tortfeasor when there are other negligent tortfeasors, but to eliminate the benefit where the other tortfeasor acted intentionally. Indeed to do so would constitute a denial of equal protection. <u>See</u> U.S. Const. amend. XIV, Fla. Const. art. 1, § 2.

#### 3. The Trial Court did not Abuse its Discretion in Permitting Ford to Amend its Affirmative Defenses.

Plaintiffs also attempt to assert a procedural roadblock to

Ford's apportionment defense, arguing that Ford's pleadings were not timely amended to assert this defense.

<sup>22</sup> <u>See Nash v. Wells Fargo</u>, 678 So. 2d 1262 (Fla. 1996). To the contrary, it was not an abuse of discretion for the court to permit Ford's amendment given that "there was no doubt from the pleadings before amendment as to whom the driver was." (R. 20, 94) Thus, to agree with Plaintiffs would be to exalt form over substance.

Plaintiffs also argue they were prejudiced because they had no opportunity to conduct voir dire on this subject. However, when the court heard argument on Ford's motion to amend, Plaintiffs never complained of a lost opportunity to conduct voir dire. Plaintiffs' failure to argue this point until after the jury was discharged, effectively waived this issue. <u>See Allstate Ins. Co. v. Hinchey</u>, 701 So. 2d 1263 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997).

Moreover, any claimed prejudice was of Plaintiffs' own making. When the court initially ruled that alcohol evidence was inadmissible, it stated that the ruling was preliminary and applied only to opening statement. (T. 53)

<sup>23</sup> Thus, it was perfectly clear that the court would revisit the issue. Despite the tentative nature of the ruling,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> In the Second District, Plaintiffs attempted to assert error in this ruling by way of a belated cross appeal. Despite the fact that the Court did not permit the cross-appeal, Plaintiffs have persisted on this issue. It is not properly before this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> THE COURT: You want to wait till a more appropriate time to make a proffer of the evidence, and I'll allow you to make a proper proffer on the record. You're entitled to that under the rules.

MR. CABANISS: Oh, yes, I will. I mean, before I get -- before Your Honor makes his **final** ruling, I certainly want to explain to the Court and I --

THE COURT: Well, we're talking about now the **preliminaries** of what you're going to tell on opening statement and what you're going to tell – what you want the court to tell the jury is or is not the issue. (T. 53) (emphasis added)

Plaintiffs objected when Ford's counsel again stated that he wanted to ask the jurors questions concerning alcohol. (T. 54) Thus, it was Plaintiffs' own conduct that precluded them from learning of the juror's views concerning alcohol and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Plaintiffs' claims of prejudice.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, Ford respectfully requests this Court to affirm the Second District's decision.

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